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ломать АЙ / сломать АЙ

в час at 1 at 4 at 7 at 10
at 2 at 5 at 8 at 11
at 3 at 6 at 9 at 12

в четыре часа в семь часов в десять часов

ломаться АЙ / сломаться АЙ

в два часа в пять часов в восемь часов в одиннадцать часов
в три часа в шесть часов в девять часов в двенадцать часов

to break (appliances, etc.)

разбивать АЙ / разбить Ь
разбиваться АЙ / разбиться Ь

to break, shatter

открывать АЙ / открыть ОЙ
открываться АЙ / открыться ОЙ

to open

начинать АЙ / начать /Н + inf. заканчивать АЙ / закончить И переставать АВАЙ / перестать Н
начинаться АЙ / начаться /Н заканчиваться АЙ / закончиться И

to begin, start to end, finish
to stop

Refer to these examples (from the book) of verbs for which transitivity is ambiguous in English. For example, we can use “to break” in two 
very different ways, as in “I broke the plate” versus “The plate broke.” In the first example, “break” is used transitively — with a direct 
object. Such verbs do not usually have a reflexive particle. When we add a reflexive particle, we typically get an intransitive verb that may 
be understood passively (“to be broken”).

We’ll cover this in more detail later — but, for answering some questions below, here are basic time expressions — on the hour only, for 
now! We use “в” to say “at,” followed by the time. The numbers 2, 3, 4 are followed by час (hour) in the genitive singular, while 5 and 
above are followed by the genitive plural. These answer the question Во сколько? (At what time?). Here are the full expressions:

The first two verbs involve the same problem: for example, we can use “start” in English in two different ways, as in “I started the discus-
sion” versus “The discusssion started.” Only the second example — which can be understood passively (“the discussion was started”) 
requires the reflexive particle in Russian. 

The reflexive verb хотеться / захотеться is used subjectlessly — with the dative case and an infinitive — in the sense of “someone 
feels like...” Any subjectless verb will always look like a neuter singular form, and will of course have no subject (in the nominative case)!

Say what you feel like doing — and got the urge to do yesterday — by substituting your own infinitives:

2. Let’s break stuff

1. Crash course: telling time on the hour

3. Starting and stopping

4. I feel like... (a subjectless expression!)

Does your phone often break?

Did you often break dishes as a child?

Are you cold / hot? Want to open the window?

What time does your favorite cafe open?

What time does our class begin /end?

I feel like drinking coffee and eating chocolate.
Yesterday I suddenly got the urge to eat a watermelon.

Has it broken recently?

Was mom happy when the they were broken?

What time do you start / finish studying?

What would you say when you broke them?

When will the professor finally stop talking?

Who broke it?

— Телефон у тебя часто ломается?

— Ты часто разбивал(а) посуду, когда ты был(а) ребёнком?

— Тебе не холодно / жарко? Хочешь открыть окно?

— Во сколько открывается твоë любимое кафе?

— Во сколько начинается / заканчивается наш урок?

— (Мне) хочется пить кофе и есть шоколад.

— Вчера мне вдруг захотелось съесть арбуз.

— Он недавно у тебя сломался? Как?

— Мама была довольно, когда она разбивалась?

— Во сколько ты начинаешь / заканчиваешь заниматься?

— Что ты говорил(а), когда разбивал(а) посуду?

— Когда же профессор наконец перестанет говорить?

— Кто его сломал? 


